
 

Democratic Services Contact Officer: Maggie Jennings 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

22 July 2015 
 
To: Chairman – Councillor Deborah Roberts 
 Members of the Licensing (2003 Act) Sub-Committee – Councillors 

Andrew Fraser and Alex Riley 
  
Applicant: Mr D Christian 
  
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Please find below the agenda, and attached the relevant papers, for the hearing by the 
LICENSING (2003 ACT) SUB-COMMITTEE of the application for a review of a premises 
licence at Over Community Centre.  The hearing will be held in the SWANSLEY ROOM A AND 
B - GROUND FLOOR meeting room at South Cambridgeshire Hall on THURSDAY, 30 JULY 
2015 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the meeting. 
 

 
AGENDA 

PAGES 
1. INTRODUCTIONS / PROCEDURE  1 - 2 
 The Chairman will introduce the members of the Sub-Committee and the 

officers in attendance at the meeting. 
 
A copy of the Licensing (2003 Act) Committee procedure is attached. 

 

   
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
3. OVER: REVIEW OF PREMISES LICENCE AT THE COMMUNITY 

CENTRE 
 3 - 164 

 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



 

 

 
OUR LONG-TERM VISION 

 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 
  



 

 

 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 



 

 

   



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
LICENSING (2003 ACT) COMMITTEE 

 
HEARING PROCEDURE 

 
1. Introduction 
• The Chairman of the sub-committee will welcome and introduce everyone present, giving 

explanations of roles where necessary, and outline the procedure to be followed. 
• The hearing will take the form of a discussion to be led by the sub-committee.  
• Members of the sub-committee will be able to ask questions of any party, or the Licensing 

Officer, at the hearing.  They will try, so far as possible, to ask their questions at the 
conclusion of each party’s submission.  

• The sub-committee will consider any requests for permission to ask questions of other 
parties.  It will decide if questions are required in order for it to consider the case properly.  If 
permission is given to one party, it will usually be given to all other parties. 

• The Chairman may ask any person behaving in a disruptive manner to leave and may refuse 
to permit that person(s) to return or may permit them to return with specified conditions.  Such 
a person may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the authority in writing any information 
which they would have been entitled to give orally had they not been required to leave. 

• Members of the sub-committee will be asked to make any Declaration of Interests. 
 
2. Witnesses 

The sub-committee will consider any requests from any of the parties to call witnesses. 
 

3. New evidence/information  
The sub-committee will consider any requests for permission to present new evidence or 
information not previously disclosed to all the parties and the sub-committee prior to the hearing.  
The general rule is that such information or evidence must not be considered unless all parties at 
the hearing agree to it being considered on the day of the hearing.  A request may be made for a 
short adjournment to allow time for everyone to receive copies of the extra information and time 
to read it. 

 
4. Allocation of time 

Each party will be asked for a time estimate for the presentation of their case.  The sub-
committee will hear all estimates and then allocate each party an equal amount of time to speak. 

 
5. Licensing Officer’s report 

The Council’s Licensing Officer will outline details of the application and representations received 
by the council. No recommendation to members will be made. 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



6. Applicant’s case 
The applicant will present their case first.  They have a right to: 
• address the sub-committee on any points of clarification the council has sought; 
• address the committee generally; and 
• call any witnesses that they have been given permission to call.  Witnesses may be cross- 

examined if permission is granted.  If this happens, the time taken for questions will count 
towards the allocated time of the party asking the questions, not the party answering them. 

 Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of the applicant. 
 
7. Police representations 

The Police will make any representations about the application, with the same rights as listed at 
s.6. Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of the police representative. 

 
8. “Responsible authorities” representations 

Other “responsible authorities” (Police/Fire/Environmental Health Officer/Social Services/Trading 
Standards/Planning Directorate) will then make representations, with the same rights as listed at 
s.6. 

       Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of those authorities represented. 
 

9. Any other representations 
Anybody else making representations will go last, with the same rights listed at s.6. 
Members of the sub-committee may ask questions of any person who has made a 
representation. 

 
10.   Legal advice 

Once all parties have presented their cases to the sub-committee, and the members of the sub-
committee have no more questions for any of the parties, the Council’s Legal Officer will be 
asked to outline any relevant legal guidance. 

 
11.  Decision-making 

The sub-committee will remain in the room to make its decision. The Council’s Legal Officer and 
Democratic Services Officer will also remain with members to advise where necessary and take 
notes of the decision. All other persons present will vacate the room. 

 
12.  Notification of decision 

Depending on the nature of the application, a determination of the case will either be made at the 
conclusion of the hearing, or within 5 working days.  In most cases, all parties will be notified of 
the decision in writing. 

Page 2



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Licensing (2003 Act) Sub-Committee 30 July 2015 
AUTHOR/S: Director, Health & Environmental Services 

 
 

APPLICATION FOR A REVIEW OF A PREMISES LICENCE UNDER S.51 OF THE 
LICENSING ACT 2003 FOR OVER COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, 

THE DOLES, OVER CB24 5NW 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To consider the application made by Mr D Christian for the review of premises licence 

number SCDCPL0230, currently in place at Over Community Centre, The Doles, 
Over, Cambridgeshire CB24 5NW, (Appendix A) for consideration by the Licensing 
Sub-Committee and to establish whether: 

 
•  There is sufficient evidence, that indicates any breach of the Licensing Act or 

any conditions imposed under it as part of a licence,  held by Over 
Community Association in respect of the Over Community Centre 

• If evidence is found, what the proportionate response is to address the 
situation, in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 

 
Background 

 
2. Over Community Association have held a Premises Licence for provision of regulated 

entertainment and sale of alcohol by retail since the introduction of the Licensing Act 
2003 on 25 November 2005. Attached to this report is a copy of the current licence  
(Appendix B) and a map showing the proximity of the complainant to the Community 
Centre (Appendix C).   

 
3. During the period 25 November 2005 to November 2013 no complaints were raised 

by any residents or responsible authorities about the activities at Over Community 
Centre. 
 

4. Mr Christian moved into the area in May 2013 and in November 2013 the Council 
received a complaint (Appendix D) via Housing Services, regarding noise from Over 
Community Centre on Sunday 23 November 2013, which Mr Christian stated was 
affecting his viewing of the television during the evening. Mr Christian claimed that he 
could not hear the television even though it was turned up to 75% of its maximum 
volume.  A housing officer discussed the issue with Mr Christian and advised him of 
the Council’s noise investigation procedure.  Following this complaint, Russell 
Watkins, an Environmental Health Officer (EHO) employed by the Council at the time, 
contacted the Community Centre to advise them that a complaint had been received 
by the Council. On this occasion Mr Christian made no further complaints to Housing, 
Licensing or Environmental Health. It appeared that the complaint was an isolated 
incident and no further action was deemed necessary. 
 

5. During July 2014 Mr Christian made 2 calls reporting 3 incidents of noise specifically 
relating to loud music and noise from people leaving the premises. Both the contact 
centre and Ms Stallabrass, the Council’s Licensing and Communities Officer, advised 
Mr Christian to compile a noise diary over a four week period in accordance with the 
Council’s Noise Investigation Policy. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



 
6. Upon consideration of the complaint relating to music and noise from people, whilst 
 there was no clear evidence that the noise arose from licensable activities 

Ms Stallabrass wrote to the Management of the Community Centre on 28 July 2014 
advising them that a complaint had been received and reminding them of the 
necessity to comply with the conditions attached to their licence. Subsequently, Sean 
Watkiss, Manager of Over Community Centre contacted Ms Stallabrass by telephone, 
that in view of the complaints, he proposed to do additional boundary checks at  
regular intervals and to do hand held noise assessments. He also confirmed that he 
had reiterated to staff the necessity to keep doors and windows closed during 
licensed events. 
  

7. Mr Christian did not return the noise log sent in July and in accordance with policy the 
complaint was closed at the end of August. 
 

8. Further complaints were then received by Mr Christian in October relating to doors 
being left open whilst music was being played and people being noisy outside of the 
premises. 
 

9. The matter was investigated by Russell Watkins (EHO) who referred to the Licensing 
Officer (Ms Stallabrass) in his consideration of the most appropriate course of action. 
His investigation included the installation of noise recording equipment inside 
Mr Christian’s house to establish whether a statutory nuisance was taking place and 
to identify the times for licensing purposes. During the period 11 November 2014 to 2 
December 2014 a number of 5 minute snapshot recordings were made which showed 
that on several occasions music was audible in Mr Christian’s property at an intrusive 
level. 
 

10. Between October 2014 and February 2015 the EHO and the Licensing Officer, in 
accordance with the Council’s Enforcement Policy conducted a mediation process 
between parties to establish sound levels that were set at such a level that both were 
satisfied. This was achieved on 16 January 2015 and the noise limiter in the main hall 
was set on 21 January 2016 to cut out at levels above those agreed. 
 

11. Complaints from Mr Christian continued to be received and noise recording 
equipment was installed again in Mr Christian’s home on 17 February 2015 to 
ascertain if noise causing a disturbance related to licensable activities. 
 

12. Recording with the noise kit took place during Feb/March 2015 (Appendix E ) and 
the following summary of the evidence evaluated is set out below 
 

a. 11 recordings were made (7 of which were of the 18th Birthday Party on 
28/2/15) 

b. 2 recordings made at 22:47 and 22:55 on 28 February captured some 
shouting/screaming/crying of a female from outside the property with faint 
voices/people noise detectable in the distance and a faint bass beat 

c. 9 recordings captured internal movements, talking and sound from the 
television or radio within the property. 
 

13. Investigation showed that the noise recordings related to the following events taking 
place at the premises. 

 
Date Event Sound File Subjective assessment of 

recordings 
28/2/15 • 18th Birthday SE004 – 1. No music heard  

Page 4



Party held in 
the White 
Room 

SE010 (7 
separate 
recordings 
between 22:39 
– 23:28) 

2. Some shouting/ 
screaming/crying heard 
from outside- female Faint 
voices detectable in 
distance Faint bass beat 
heard, otherwise very 
quiet 

3. Faint people noise heard 
in distance 

4. Coughing, very quiet, 
virtually nothing audible 

5. Coughing, very quiet, 
virtually nothing audible 

6. Coughing, motion noise 
close to microphone, male 
voice  

7. Very quiet, virtually 
nothing audible 

6/3/15 • Wedding 
Reception 
held in the 
White Room 

• Singers & 
Drummers 
Concert 

SE011(19:25) Male voice talking- quiet, in 
another room. Talking about 
noise levels, conversation 
interspersed with swearing  
Possible faint TV sound in 
background 

10/3/15 • Zumba Class SE012 (20:47) Coughing 
TV noise- quiet 
Conversation between male 
and female in house 
Movement close to 
microphone 

13/3/15 • Rehearsal for 
Over Girl 
Guides Show  

SE013 (19:48) 
& SE014 
(19:50) 

TV heard faint in background 
Pull chord type light switch, 
shortly followed by WC flush 
Kettle being filled, then sound 
of it heating up 
Breathing and movement 
close to microphone 

 
 

14. Of the activities taking place it is the view of the Licensing Officer that none were 
licensable due to the type of activity taking place i.e. a dance class or were a specific 
exemption such as rehearsals or time periods covered by the provisions of the Live 
Music Act (APPENDIX F) ( S.182 Guidance ch 15 on). 
 

15. These findings were discussed fully with Mr Christian at a meeting held at the council 
offices on 17 April 2015 and a summary letter was sent by Mr Bebbington on 23 April 
2015 (Appendix G). 

 
16. Mr Christian has continued to disagree with the Officers findings and has lodged 

further complaints, detailed in paragraph 21 of this report. 
 

17. On the 3 June 2015 Mr Christian requested that the existing premises licence be 
reviewed (Appendix A) due to alleged ongoing breach of conditions and noise 
emanating from the premises. Mr Christian’s statement in support of the application is 

Page 5



detailed below: 
 

“Dear Review Board I am requesting you to look and review the licence of the 
named premises because conditions of the licence are not being upheld. On 
July 21st 2014 I Douglas Christian raised a complaint with South 
Cambridgeshire District Council regarding excessive noise coming from the 
Over Community Centre. It was in October when the council decided to 
investigate after police reports made to Cambridge police Environmental 
Health Officers installed sound equipment in my property in November 2014 
for a period of three weeks the highest reading was 65dbs and interpreted as 
an interference. On January 17th The Environmental Health Team adjusted 
the sound limiter in the community centre to reduce the volume level with 
instruction to the licensee not to use maximum base tone volume this has 
been ignored. I have proceeded with the councils complaint procedure and 
addressed the complaint with the Government Ombudsman Office of which is 
in the process of being authorised for a investigation into the conduct of the 
councils actions 
I Douglas Christian am not employed my wife was diagnosed with dementia 
and became fully incontinent in September 2014 the council are fully aware of 
this my wife’s sleep patterns are all over the place and she needs constant 
attention I have to sleep and rest when I can and when she is in bed its my 
private rest time but not when you have noise pounding into your house all I 
want is peace and quiet in my own home of which we are entitled.” 
 

 
18. Whilst it is the view of the Licensing Officer (Mr Bebbington) that no sufficient breach 

of the legislation or any conditions attached have taken place, the appeal has been 
granted on 15 June 2015 to allow all sides to present any evidence that may not have 
previously been available and to  act in full  accordance with Government guidance 
which states:-  

 
a. “It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about 

any aspect of a representation should be given to the person making 
that representation. The subsequent hearing would then provide an 
opportunity for the person or body making the representation to amplify 
and clarify it.” 

 
19. In view of this review, appropriate notices were displayed at the premises; 

responsible authorities were notified in accordance with legislative procedures inviting 
representations either for or against the licence to be received by the licensing 
section no later than the 14 July 2015. 
 

20. Representations (copied in full at Appendix H) have been received from the 
following :- 

a. Environmental Health 
b. Licensing Officer 
c. The Over Players 
d. Over Day Centre 
e. 7 Residents living in the vicinity of the premises 
f. Over Community Centre 
g. Mr Christian 

 

Page 6



Summary of Evidence/representations (full details included at Appendix H) 
 

21. Mr Christian has provided further detailed evidence in support of his call for a review, 
this briefly comprises : 

• Covering letter and itemised list of documents to be used in evidence 
• Licence Review Complaint Summary: Details of his tenancy and the history of 

the complaints about noise, sound limiter reset, reference to reports to police 
since 21 January 2015, concerns regarding conflicts of interest, comments on 
licence conditions and sound levels, and a closing statement. 

• E-mails detailing issues of noise since the limiter was set (these have been 
cross-referenced with the Community Centre Bookings (Appendix I) and 
highlighted in bold italics. They include the Puddleduck’s sports day, Zumba 
class, carnival committee fundraiser, Over sports end of season party and a 
charity fundraiser 80’s evening. 

• Compiled report, including Letter from Russell Watkins dated 19 January 
2015, confirming his visit to set the limiter and a summary of facts from the 
meeting with Myles Bebbington at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 17 April 
2015. 

• Police reports made since limiter reset in January 2015, (these have been 
cross-referenced with the Community Centre Bookings (Appendix I)  and 
include charity fundraiser 80’s evening, Over Sports end of season party (2 
calls), football session on the all-weather pitch and a 30th birthday party. 

• File note of Claire Whiteman, Housing Officer, relating to a tenancy visit made 
to Mr Douglas Christian after he visited the Over Community Centre. 

• Map of the area showing the location of the Community Centre and 33 The 
Doles. 

• Two witness statements obtained by Mr Christian 
• Noise guidance document, containing numerous cut and paste references 

from the internet. 
• Public protection document, an advice note prepared by Central Bedfordshire 

for organisers of large events. 
• Proposed actions for sub-committee, suggesting controls that might reduce 

the impact of noise. 
 

22. Over Community Centre have outlined the management controls and measures 
implemented in promotion of the licensing objective to prevent public nuisance and 
supplied a list of events which have been held at the venue since April 2014 or are 
booked to take place over the coming months. Briefly the measures include: 

a. Schedule of service requirements and terms and conditions of the hire 
signed upon booking requiring that 

i. The Hirer shall ensure that the minimum of noise is made on arrival 
and departure 

ii. Noise control equipment is operational within the hall. Instructions 
regarding use must be adhered to. Non compliance will result in a 
power cut off. 

b. A notice permanently situated by the front door asking customers to leave 
the premises quietly to avoid disturbing local residents. 

c. The main hall has been fitted with a sound monitor for the past 14 years. 
The equipment monitors sound levels and cuts the power when sound 
levels are too high for the pre-set levels. This level was reduced in 
February 2015 following consultation with officers of South 
Cambridgeshire District Council and agreement of all parties.  

d. Staffing – the Duty Manager is present at each event to monitor the front 
doors and periodically check the perimeter of the site to assess the noise 

Page 7



levels. Additionally the front doors are monitored by CCTV and can be 
viewed by staff in the bar. For some events SIA approved door 
supervisors are employed. 

 
23. The Environmental Health Officer concludes “recordings taken in February/March 

2015” at Mr Christian’s home “appear to demonstrate the volume of music has been 
reduced to a level that was virtually inaudible.” And “considering these recordings 
there is no evidence to substantiate the allegations that the management of the 
community centre are acting in a manner that is contrary to the licensing objective of 
preventing public nuisance when live or recorded music is played at the premises”. A 
chronology of complaints and actions taken by Environmental Health is attached at 
Appendix J. 

 
24. Seven residents living in the vicinity of the premises have made representations in 

support of the community centre:. 
a. The Over Players (an amateur dramatic society) purport that they are 

“mindful” of volume levels during performances, particularly relating to 
music” and stress that the “Management Committee acts as a good 
neighbour with surrounding residents” and has done so “since 1999”. 

b. Over Day Centre affirms the use of equipment to monitor noise levels 
during events at the centre and that they have not noticed any 
unacceptable noise from people leaving these events. Neither have they 
received any complaints themselves. 

c. Mr Brian Smith, a local resident states “I support the centre as much as 
possible and have never yet found it to be a public nuisance. The staff are 
very approachable and are always alert to the effects that noise might 
have on their closest neighbour to the point of taking events inside the 
building if they think it might cause offence. 

d. Ms Amie Baker, a local resident confirms “there is no juke box in the 
community centre. They always keep all the doors shut to prevent noise. 
The staff will always crack down on any nuisance behaviour although I 
have only ever seen children being a little naughty.” 

e. Mr Rob Bevington, a local resident emphasised that “The community 
centre does everything it can to limit the noise emanating from the various 
functions that it supports. This is in the form of being strict in turning music 
off promptly at the end of the night in line with its licensing agreement. 
Staff (and visitors) closing exit doors and internal doors if inadvertently left 
open. Functions never go on later than allowed” 

f. Ms Samantha Nicholson another local resident agrees “external doors 
closed, staff asking customers to keep the noise down when leaving the 
premises and respect others” 

g. Mr Brown, a local resident lives directly adjacent to the Community Centre 
and is Mr Christian’s neighbour, he believes that “the licence granted does 
not result in any public nuisance, neither from the centre activities nor from  
the people using it”. He adds, “music is never unreasonably loud and 
events always finish at a reasonable time and in our view, the licence is 
treated responsibly”. 

h. Mr & Mrs Blanchflower, who live in the vicinity, affirm that “we (very 
occasionally) hear activity from the Centre, it is never unreasonably loud 
and always ends at a reasonable time.” It is their view that “OCC manage 
the facility and their licence considerately and responsibly.”  

i. Ms Peck, who lives in the vicinity, simply states “I live in the area of the 
community centre and I haven’t experienced any antisocial behaviour or 
noise that is too excessive”. 

 

Page 8



 
Licensing Act information relevant to this hearing 
 

25. The Licensing Act 2003 came into force on the 25 November 2005 amalgamating a 
number of previous pieces of legislation administered by the Magistrates Courts and 
Local Authorities There are 4 key objectives which all representations and decisions 
must relate to, these are:- 
 

a. The prevention of crime and disorder; 
b. Public safety; 
c. The prevention of public nuisance; and 
d. The protection of children from harm. 

 
26. The Act brought together licensing the sale of alcohol and regulated entertainment all 

to be administered and enforced by Local Authorities Within the original piece of 
legislation. Licensable activities are defined  as :- 
 

a. the sale by retail of alcohol; 
b. the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a 

member of 
c. the club; 
d. the provision of regulated entertainment; and 
e. the provision of late night refreshment. 

 
27. To be licensable, one or more of these activities needs to be provided for the purpose 

(at least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises made 
available for the purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

a. take place in the presence of a public audience, or 
b. where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made 

with a view to profit 
 

28. There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation) 
under the 2003 Act is not required.  the following activities are examples of 
entertainment which are not licensable: 

a. activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious 
context; 

b. education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
c. the rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience 

where no charge is made with a view to making a profit; 
d. Morris dancing (or similar) 
e. Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded 

music if it is incidental to some other activity; 
f. Incidental film – an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some 

other activity; 
g. A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 
h. Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of 

private gain; 
i. Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and 

simultaneous; 
j.  Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 
k. Stand-up comedy; and 
l. Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors) 

 
29. As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act since its 

inception, no licence is required for the following activities: 

Page 9



 
• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500 . 
• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in 
community premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the 
audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser  
(a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is 
responsible for the premises; and  
(b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings. 
• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 
and 23.00 on any day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000. 
• Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, 
exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 
08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 
1000. 

 
m. Live music: no licence permission is required for a performance of 

unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any 
premises. 

n. a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day on premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those 
premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

o. a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, in a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar 
community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell 
alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 
organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is 
responsible for the premises. 

p. Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for any playing of 
recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises 
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided 
that the audience does not exceed 500. 

q. any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 
church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 
premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, 
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser 
gets consent for the performance from a person who is responsible for the 
premises. 

r. Events held in private are not licensable unless those attending are 
charged for the entertainment with a view to making a profit (including 
raising money for charity). For example, where a party is held for friends in 
a private dwelling featuring amplified live music, if a charge or contribution 
is made solely to cover the costs of the entertainment, the activity is not 
regulated entertainment. Similarly, any charge made to the organiser of a 
private event by musicians, other performers, or their agents does not of 
itself make that entertainment licensable – it would only do so if the guests 
attending were themselves charged by the organiser for that entertainment 
with a view to achieving a profit. The fact that this might inadvertently 
result in the organiser making a profit would be irrelevant, as long as there 
had not been an intention to make a profit. 

s.  Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act also makes it clear that before entertainment 
is regarded as being provided for consideration, a charge has to be: 

Page 10



t. made by or on behalf of a person concerned with the organisation or 
management of the entertainment; and 

u. paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom the 
entertainment is provided. 

Considerations  
 
30. The Licensing Act 2003, places a general duty on the Licensing Authority to arrange 

a hearing where it receives an application for review by an interested party. 
 

31. The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may 
exercise on determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. Including:- 
• a licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence holder 

and/or to recommend improvement within a particular period of time. 
• modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new 

conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, 
by reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular 
times; 

• exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to 
exclude the performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it 
is not within the incidental live and recorded music exemption); 

• remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they 
consider that the problems are the result of poor management; 

• suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
• revoke the licence. 

 
32. The Sub-Committee is reminded that Licensing Authorities do not have the power to 

judge the decision of any other process such as an Environmental Health decision, 
the Corporate complaints procedure or an Ombudsman decision. 
 
Options 

 
33. When determining the application the Sub-Committee is reminded that each case 

presented to the Sub-committee must be considered on its individual merits.  Where 
action is deemed appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the Licensing 
objectives, the sub-committee may take any of the following steps: 

 
(a) The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any 

further steps appropriate to promote the licensing objectives 
 
(b) to modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new 

conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by 
reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 

 
(c) to exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to 

exclude the performance of live music or playing or recorded music (where it is 
not within the incidental live and recorded music exemption); 

 
(d) to remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they 

consider that the problems are the result of poor management; 
 
(e) to suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
 
(f) to revoke the licence.  

Page 11



Implications 
 
34. Financial N/A 

Legal Both parties will have a right of appeal to a magistrates court 
within 21 days beginning with the day on which the appellant is 
notified of any decision made by the Licensing Sub-Committee 

Staffing N/A 
Risk Management N/A 
Equality and 
Diversity 

N/A 
Equality Impact 
Assessment 
completed 

No 
This hearing is by way of a specific appeal and does not affect 
any policy adopted by SCDC 

Climate Change N/A 
 
  

Conclusions / Summary 
 
35. The application before the Sub-Committee is for the review of premises licence 

number SCDCPL0230 currently in place at the Over Community Centre, The Doles, 
Over.  

 
36. Mr Christian as an interested party has applied for a review, as in his opinion the 

premises breach both the Licensing Act 2003 and conditions imposed upon them by 
virtue of the Act.   

  
37. The Sub-Committee must deliver their decision with the Licensing Objectives in mind 
 contained within S.4 of the Act within 5 working days of the hearing. 
 
38. In accordance with guidance, the Sub-Committee should give comprehensive 

reasons for the decisions made in anticipation of any appeals to the Courts.  Failure 
to give adequate reasons for decisions made in determining the review may in itself 
give rise to grounds for an appeal.  

 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  

Licensing Act 2003 
Amended Guidance Issued under S.182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
South Cambridgeshire District Council Licensing Policy 
 

Contact Officer:   
 
 Susan Walford, Operational Manager Environmental Health & Licensing. Ext 3124. 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 31



Page 32

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 33



Page 34



Appendix F 
 
15. Regulated entertainment 
Types of regulated entertainment 
 
15.1  Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision of 

regulated entertainment and when they are licensable and those activities which are 
not and therefore exempt from the regulated entertainment regime. Changes to 
regulated entertainment are due to take effect on 6 April 2015. Therefore, up until that 
date you should refer to chapter 15 of the guidance published in October 2014. 

 
15.2 The descriptions of entertainment activities licensable under the 2003 Act are: 
 
• a performance of a play; 
• an exhibition of a film; 
• an indoor sporting event; 
• a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
• a performance of live music; 
• any playing of recorded music; 
• a performance of dance; and 
• entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing of 
recorded music or a performance of dance. 
 
15.3 To be licensable, one or more of these activities needs to be provided for the purpose 

(at least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises made 
available for the purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

• take place in the presence of a public audience, or 
• where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made with a view to 
profit. 
 
15.4  Guidance around what constitutes audiences and private events is at paragraphs 

15.11-15.14. 
 
Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are not licensable 
 
15.5  There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation15) 

under the 2003 Act is not required. This Guidance cannot give examples of every 
eventuality or possible entertainment activity that is not licensable. However, the 
following activities are examples of entertainment which are not licensable: 

• activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context; 
• activities in places of public religious worship; 
• education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
• the demonstration of a product – for example, a guitar – in a music shop; 
• the rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience where no charge is 
made with a view to making a profit; 
• Morris dancing (or similar)16; 
• Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded music if it is 
incidental to some other activity; 
• Incidental film – an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some other 
activity; 
• A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 
• Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of private gain; 
• Films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries; 
• Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and simultaneous; 

Page 35



• Vehicles in motion – at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily 
parked; 
• Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 
• Stand-up comedy; and 
• Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors) 
. 
15.6   As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act20, no licence is 

required for the following activities: 
 

• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community 
premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not 
exceed 500 and the organiser  
(a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; 
and  
(b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings. 
• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 23.00 
on any day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000. 
• Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or 
display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000 

 
Live music: no licence permission is required for: 
 

• A performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on  
any premises. 

• A performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on 
premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that 
the audience does not exceed 50022. 

 
• A performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 

workplace23 that is not licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the 
audience does not exceed 500. 

 
• A performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 

church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is 
not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does 
not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance from a 
person who is responsible for the premises. 

 
• A performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the 

non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, 
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets 
consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority 
concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 
 

Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
 

• any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises 
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the 
audience does not exceed 50024. 

 

Page 36



• any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, 
village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed 
by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 
500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance from a person who is 
responsible for the premises. 

 
• any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-

residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided 
that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the 
performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or (ii) 
the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 
 

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, with no limit on audience size for: 

 
• any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority; 
 

• any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider 
where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider; 

 
• any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the 

entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and 
 

• any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking 
place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable 
structure that accommodates the audience, and (b) that the travelling circus has not 
been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days 

 
15.7  The deregulatory changes mean that, for example, an indoor sporting event that 

takes place between 07.00 and 23.30 on a particular day is licensable in respect of 
activities taking place between 07.00-08.00 and 23.00-23.30. Similarly, where the 
audience for a performance of dance fluctuates, those activities are licensable if, and 
for so long as, the number of people in the audience exceeds 500. If organisers are 
uncertain as to audience sizes or if audience migration is likely, it might be easier and 
more flexible to secure an 
appropriate authorisation. Examples of where a Temporary Event Notice (TEN) could 
still be required include if the activity is the playing of recorded music or the exhibition 
of a film that requires an authorisation; or if the entertainment is not authorised by an 
existing licence or certificate and its conditions. 
 

15.8  Of course, anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities 
– whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must comply 
with any applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to the 
event (e.g. in areas such as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, 
nuisance and planning) 

 
Any such person should take steps to be aware of relevant best practice, and may 
find responsible authorities a useful source of expert support and advice. 
 
An authorisation for regulated entertainment is always required for entertainment 
activities that take place before 08.00 or after 23.00, unless exempted under any 
other provision of the 2003 Act, as amended. 

Audience 
 

Page 37



15.11  For the purposes of regulated entertainment, the term “audience” refers to any 
person for whose entertainment (at least in part) any licensable activities are 
provided. An audience member need not be, or want to be, entertained: what matters 
is that an audience is present30 and that the purpose of the licensable activity is (at 
least in part) intended to entertain any person present. The audience will not include 
performers, together with any person who contributes technical skills in substantial 
support of a performer (for example, a sound engineer or stage technician), during 
any associated activities. This includes setting up before the entertainment, 
reasonable breaks (including intervals) between activities and packing up thereafter. 
Similarly, security staff and bar workers will not form part of the audience while 
undertaking their duties. 

 
15.12  More than one entertainment activity (or for a single activity, more than one 

performance or event) can be held concurrently, provided that the audience for each 
such performance or event does not exceed the threshold at which such a 
performance or event becomes licensable. In some circumstances, there will be a 
clear distinction between performances or events; for example, their taking place in 
separate rooms or on separate floors. However, organisers will have to ensure that 
audiences do not grow or migrate, so that the audience exceeds the relevant limit for 
any one performance or event at any time. If there is the possibility of audience 
migration, it might be easier and more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

 
Private events 
 
15.13  Events held in private are not licensable unless those attending are charged for the 

entertainment with a view to making a profit (including raising money for charity). For 
example, where a party is held for friends in a private dwelling featuring amplified live 
music, if a charge or contribution is made solely to cover the costs of the 
entertainment, the activity is not regulated entertainment. Similarly, any charge made 
to the organiser of a private event by musicians, other performers, or their agents 
does not of itself make that entertainment licensable – it would only do so if the 
guests attending were themselves charged by the organiser for that entertainment 
with a view to achieving a profit. The fact that this might inadvertently result in the 
organiser making a profit would be irrelevant, as long as there had not been an 
intention to make a profit. 

 
15.14  Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act also makes it clear that before entertainment is regarded 

as being provided for consideration, a charge has to be: 
• made by or on behalf of a person concerned with the organisation or management 
of the entertainment; and 
• paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom the entertainment is 
provided. 
 

Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer licensable 
 
15.15  No licence is required for certain entertainment activities on specified premises, as 

follows: 
 

Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: 
cross-entertainment activity exemption 

15.16  No licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local 
authority, health care provider, or school proprietor to the extent that it takes place on 
defined premises, between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

Page 38



• for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a local authority it takes places on 
premises in which that authority has a relevant property interest, or is in lawful 
occupation; 
• for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a health care provider it takes place 
on any premises forming part of a hospital in which the provider has a relevant 
property interest, or is in lawful occupation; and 
• for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a school proprietor it takes place on 
the premises of the school. 
 

15.17  This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality where entertainment is not 
licensable under this exemption through being provided “by or on behalf of”. It will 
depend on the facts in each case. However, the following are examples of activities 
that are not usually considered to be licensable under this exemption: 

  
• Any entertainment activity hosted by a local authority on their own premises, where 
there is a significant relationship between the local authority and the provider of the 
entertainment (e.g. principal and agent); 
• Any entertainment activity organised on a local authority’s behalf on that local 
authority’s premises by a cultural trust in discharge of a local authority’s discretionary 
power to arrange entertainment provision and support for the arts, including festivals 
and celebrations. 
• Any entertainment activity organised by a healthcare provider on their own hospital 
premises in partnership with a hospital charity; 
• Any entertainment event on school premises organised by the Parent Teacher 
Association (PTA) to benefit the school. 
 

15.18  It is for the local authority, health care provider or school proprietor to determine 
whether, and on what basis, they can (or wish) to provide entertainment activity under 
this exemption, including consideration of issues around fundraising, profit making, 
governance or use of public funds. However a pure hire of premises by a third party 
does not constitute the provision of an entertainment event “on behalf of” a local 
authority, 
healthcare provider, or school proprietor and nor does commercial entertainment 
which the local authority merely facilitates through providing a public space. 

 
Live music 
 
15.26 Live music is licensable: 

• where a performance of live music – whether amplified or unamplified – takes place 
before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
• where a performance of amplified live music does not take place either on relevant 
licensed premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for the provision 
of late night refreshment; 
• where a performance of amplified live music takes place at a time when the relevant 
licensed premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 
• where a performance of amplified live music takes place at relevant licensed 
premises, or workplaces, in the presence of an audience of more than 500 people; or 
• where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 
provided for by the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence or club 
premises certificate as a result of a licence review 
. 

15.27  In any of the above circumstances, unless the performance of live music is 
appropriately authorised by a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN, 

Page 39



allowing it to take place could lead to enforcement action and, where relevant, a 
review of the alcohol licence or certificate. 

 
15.28  A public performance of live unamplified music that takes place between 08.00 and 

23.00 on the same day no longer requires a licence under the 2003 Act in any 
location. An exception to this is where a specific condition related to live music is 
included following a review of the premises licence or club premises certificate in 
respect of relevant licensed premises. 

 
15.29  As a result of the amendments to the 2003 Act, section 177 of the 2003 Act now only 

applies to performances of dance. 
 
Key terms used in relation to live music 
 
15.30  Under the live music provisions, “music” includes vocal or instrumental music or any 

combination of the two. “Live music” is a performance of live music in the presence of 
an audience which it is intended to entertain. While a performance of live music can 
include the playing of some recorded music, ‘live’ music requires that the 
performance does not consist entirely of the playing of recorded music without any 
additional (substantial and continual) creative contribution being made. So, for 
example, a drum machine or backing track being used to accompany a vocalist or a 
band would be part of the performance of amplified live music. The performance of a 
DJ who is merely playing tracks would not be classified as live music, but it might if 
he or she was performing a set which largely consisted of mixing recorded music in a 
live performance to create new sounds. There will inevitably be a degree of 
judgement as to whether a performance is live music (or recorded music) and 
organisers of events should check with their licensing authority if this 
consideration is relevant to whether the activity is authorised by a licence or 
certificate. In the event of a dispute about whether a performance is live music or not, 
it will be for the licensing authority initially and ultimately, for the courts to decide in 
the individual circumstances of any case. 
 

15.31  A “workplace” is as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety and 
Welfare) Regulations 1992 and is anywhere that is made available to any person as a 
place of work. It is a very wide term which can include outdoor spaces, as well as the 
means of entry and exit. 

 
15.32  A “relevant licensed premises” for the purposes of this chapter is one which is 

authorised to sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises by a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. Premises cannot benefit from the deregulation 
introduced by the 2012 Act by virtue of holding an authorisation for the sale or supply 
of alcohol under a TEN. 

 
Recorded music 
 
15.33  No licence is required for recorded music where it takes place on premises which are 

authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate to be used for the 
supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises. However, recorded music 
remains licensable: 
• where the playing of recorded music takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any 
day; 
• where the playing of recorded music takes place at a time when the relevant 
licensed premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

Page 40



• where the playing of recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises in 
the presence of an audience of more than 500 people; and 
• where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 
provided for by the 2003 Act (as amended). 
 
Plays and dance 

 
15.34  No licence is required for a performance of a play or dance to the extent that certain 

qualifying conditions are satisfied. However a performance of a play or dance 
remains licensable: 
• where the performance takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 
• where the performance takes place in front of not more than 500 people 

 
Licence conditions 
 
Live Music or recorded music 
 
15.36  Any existing licence conditions (or conditions added on a determination of an 

application for a premises licence or club premises certificate) which relate to live 
music or recorded music remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 
08.00 and 23.00 on the same day where the following conditions are met: 
• at the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the purposes of 
being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 
• if the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more than 500 
people; and 
• the music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day. 

 
15.37  Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of fact in 

each case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates to music and 
will be suspended, for example “during performances of live music all doors and 
windows must remain closed”. In other instances, it might not be so obvious: for 
example, a condition stating “during performances of regulated entertainment all 
doors and windows must remain closed” would be suspended insofar as it relates to 
music between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day to an audience of up to 500, but the 
condition would continue to apply if there was regulated entertainment after 23.00. 

 
15.38  More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of 

potential noise nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of 
entertainment (e.g. signage asking patrons to leave quietly) will continue to have 
effect. 

 
15.39  Chapter 9 of this Guidance sets out how a licensing authority must determine 

applications for a new licence or to vary an existing premises licence. Licence 
conditions imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 9.41 to 9.43, for live or recorded 
music activities will only apply if the activity meets the criteria of having more than 
500 people present, and/or the activities are taking place between 23.00 and 08.00. 

 
15.40  These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a 

performance of live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an 
audience of 500 people or fewer, but will remain on the face of the licence for when 
these activities may take place under other circumstances. 

 
15.41  Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant 

licensed premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for a 
review of a licence 

Page 41



or certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so 
 
Plays, dance and indoor sport  
15.45 Where qualifying conditions are satisfied66, any current licence condition that 

relates to a performance of a play or dance, or an indoor sporting event for 
which a licence is no longer required will (except in the circumstances described 
in the next paragraph) have no effect.  

15.46 Where, however, these non-licensable activities take place at the same time as 
other activities for which a licence is required (e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol 
for consumption on the premises), conditions included in a licence may 
nevertheless apply to the non-licensable activities in the circumstances set out in 
paragraphs 15.52 and 15.53 (conditions relating to other non-licensable 
activities).  

15.47 Dance that is sufficiently sexual in nature continues to be regulated. Performances 
of dance which are “relevant entertainment” within the meaning of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) are not 
deregulated, regardless of the size of the audience or the time of day. “Relevant 
entertainment” is defined in the 1982 Act as a live performance or live display of 
nudity that, ignoring financial gain, can  

Licence reviews: Live and recorded music  
15.55 On a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, section 177A(3) of 

the 2003 Act permits a licensing authority to lift the suspension71 and give 
renewed effect to an existing condition relating to music. Similarly, under section 
177A(4), a licensing authority may add a condition relating to music as if music 
were regulated entertainment, and as if that premises licence or club premises 
certificate licensed the music. In both instances the condition should include a 
statement that Section 177A does not apply to the condition.  

15.56 An application for a review in relation to relevant premises can be made by a 
licensing authority, any responsible authority or any other person. Applications 
for review must still be relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives and 
meet a number of further requirements72.  

Incidental music  
15.57 The performance of live music or playing of recorded music is not regulated 

entertainment under the 2003 Act if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is 
not itself a description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 
to the 2003 Act.  

15.58  The incidental music exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a 
performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required, as it takes place 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day and before an audience which does 
not exceed the relevant limit. This is because such an activity is no longer a 
description of entertainment within the meaning of paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to 
the 2003 Act. This means that, while a performance of live music or the playing of 
recorded music cannot be incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment73 such 

Page 42



music may be within the scope of the incidental music exemption for an indoor 
sporting event or performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required.  

 
15.59 Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts of 

each case. In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, 
one relevant factor could be whether, against a background of the other activities 
already taking place, the addition of music will create the potential to undermine 
the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. 
Other factors might include some or all of the following: 

 Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the   
premises and being charged? 
 Is the music advertised as the main attraction? 
 Does the volume of the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, or 
could it be described as ‘background’ music?  
 
15.60 Conversely, factors which would not normally be relevant in themselves include: 
 the number of musicians, e.g. an orchestra providing incidental music at a large 
exhibition; 
 whether musicians are paid; 
 whether the performance is pre-arranged; and 
 whether a charge is made for admission to the premises. 
 
15.61 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for 
the courts to consider whether music is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any 
case. 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 

 
 

       Appendix G 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 Health & Environmental Services 
Our ref: 250603 Contact: Myles Bebbington 
Your ref: Direct dial: 01954 713140 
23 April 2015 Email: myles.bebbington@scambs.gov.uk 
 
 
Dear Mr Christian 
Over Community Centre 

Thank you once again for attending the meeting on Friday 17 April 2015 to discuss the outcome 
of the SCDC investigation into the noise from Over Community Centre.  
As discussed and was evident from the sound recordings, we feel there has been a significant 
improvement in the noise levels from the community centre since November 2014 and that the 
recordings made during February and March 2015 do not substantiate a statutory nuisance. The 
district council is therefore unable to take any formal action against the community centre. In 
addition we have considered whether there are any warranted actions under The Licensing Act 
2003, but feel at this present time this not the case. 
We have committed to the following: 

• Obtain a list of community centre events over the coming months (already requested) 
• Further monitoring of activities from the community centre over the coming months 
• Raise the issue with the local police force via our tasking group 

In addition, as agreed at the meeting enclosed is 
• CD of the sound recordings made back in November 2014  
• copy of the notes taken at the meeting  

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge,  
CB23 6EA 
03450 450 500 
www.scambs.gov.uk 
  

Mr D Christian 
33 The Doles 
Over 
Cambridge 
CB24 5NW 

Page 45



As discussed at the meeting it was agreed by all that in order to sustain the improvements we will 
look to work with both the centre management and yourself to ensure the situation does not 
deteriorate back to the levels encountered last year. To this end we will meet with the centre 
manager to feedback our investigation outcomes and agree a way forward for the benefit of all. 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Myles Bebbington 
Head of Environmental Health and Licensing 
 

Page 46



Appendix I 
 

 Function Booking 2014 - 2015  
 Booked Event Centre Event 
April   
5th 21st Birthday Party  
6th Christening  
 Children’s Party  
7th Funeral Wake  
13th Puddleducks Fundraising Event  
 Children’s Party  
26th Sam Pudney - singer  
 Children’s Party  
27th Scouts – St George’s Day 

celebration 
 

   
May   
3rd Children’s Party  
10th Children’s Party  
11th Jazz Afternoon  
16th Wedding Reception  
17th Children’s Party  
18th Bowls Competition  
 65th Birthday Party  
24th  Over Sports Presentation 

Dinner 
 

25th Children’s Party  
28th Funeral Wake  
31st 40th Birthday Party – White 

Room 
 

   
June   
1st Children’s Party  
7th Wedding Reception  
8th Over Colts – Thai Dinner 

Fundraiser 
 

14th 40th Birthday Party Fun Day/Fete 
(Back Ground Music 1-4pm) 

21st Puddleducks Sports Day  
 Birthday Party – White Room  
22nd Wedding Anniversary – White  

Page 47



Room 
 Children’s Party  
29th  Bridal Show   
   
July   
2nd Primary School Production  
3rd Primary School Production  
5th Children’s Party  
9th Cambs Scouts Presentation 

Evening 
 

12th 50th Birthday Party  
13th Children’s Party  
19th 30th Birthday Party  
26th Wedding Reception  
   
August   
9th Silver Wedding Anniversary  
16th British Legion Flower Show  
17th Christening  
30th Wedding Reception – White 

Room 
 

   
September   
5th Cambs Cricket Presentation  
19th WI Quiz  
21st Over Jazz Club  
27th Silver Wedding Anniversary  
 Children’s Party  
   
October   
4th British Legion – Standard 

Bearers Competition 
Big Ten Band 

5th Carpet Bowls Competition  
 Children’s Party  
11th British Legion – 1940’s 

Afternoon Tea 
 

 Children’s Party   
12th MG Owners Club  
 Children’s Party  
17th Funeral Wake  
 Over Players Old Time Music  

Page 48



Hall 
18th Naming Ceremony  
19th Children’s Party  
24th New Road Preschool – Band 

Night 
 

25th Wedding Reception  
26th Children’s Party  
31st  Children’s Halloween Disco 

(3-5pm) 
   
November   
1st Children’s Party Firework Display Children’s 

Disco (5:30 – 7:00pm) 
7th Baptist Church/World Vision 

Event 
 

8th New Road – Autumn Fair  
 Fishing Club Quiz Night  
9th Children’s Party  
11th Riding Club Fundraiser  
12th Young Farmers AGM & Disco  
13th British Legion – Wine Tasting  
15th 40th Birthday Party  
 Children’s Party  
16th Children’s Party  
21st Over Vets Quiz Night  
22nd 2’s Company  
23rd Children’s Party  
25th Children’s Party  
28th Cabaret Evening  
29th Cabaret Evening  
30th Puddleducks Christmas Fair  
   
December   
6th – 13th Over Players Panto  
6th Surprise 40th Party – White 

Room 
 

 Children’s Party  
14th Children’s Party  
17th  OAP Christmas Lunch 

(School Choir 2-3pm) 
18th Puddleducks Nativity Play  

Page 49



 Children’s Christmas Disco   
 Cambs Mammal Group  
19th  Christmas Party Night 
21st Children’s Party  
29th Children’s Party  
31st  New Years Eve Party  
   
January   
4th Children’s Party  
16th 21st Birthday Party  
18th Children’s Party x 2  
24th Children’s Party x 2  
25th Children’s Party  
26th Funeral Wake  
31st Evening of Mediumship  
 Children’s Party  
   
February   
3rd Funeral Wake  
6th Music Festival  
7th Music Festival  
 Children’s Party  
14th Birthday Party  
15th  Carpet Bowls Competition   
18th Children’s Party  
20th Funeral Wake  
21st MG Snowdrop Run   
 Charity Fundraiser – 80s 

night 
Police called @ 11:30pm 

 

28th Birthday Party  
 18th Birthday Party – White 

Room 
 

 Children’s Party  
   
March   
1st Children’s Party  
6th Wedding Reception – White 

Room 
 

 Singers and Drummers Concert  
7th Children’s Party x 3   

Page 50



14th Guide Association – Show  
21st Primary School – Race Night  
 Diamond Wedding – White 

Room 
 

 Children’s Party x 2  
28th  40th Birthday Party  
29th Carpet Bowls Competition  
   
   
   
   

Page 51



 
 Function Booking 2015 - 2016  
 Booked Event Centre Event 
April   
4th Wedding Reception  
12th Childs Party  
19th Over Jazz  
19th Band Practice  
22nd  Band Practice  
23rd Funeral Wake  
24th Childs Party  
25th Day Centre Fundraiser  
   
May   
1st Retirement Party  
2nd Children’s Party  
3rd Band Practice  
6th Funeral Wake  
9th Over Sports End of season 

party 
Children’s Party 
7:30 – 12:00 2 calls to police 

 

25th Acorn Labels – Fundraiser  
23rd – 30th Over Players Show  
   
   
June   
7th Children’s Party x 2 

Band Practice 
 

12th Carnival Committee Fundraiser 
Soundcheck at 10:30 & Noise 
from 1pm – 4pm 

 

13th Football Tournament  Fun Day/Fete 
(Back Ground Music 1-4) 

14th Children’s Party 
Band Practice 

 

20th Sam Pudney – Singer  
21st Children’s Party 

Band Practice 
 

22nd Police called 
Carpet Bowls in Main Hall 
Football on All-weather pitch (8-

 

Page 52



9) 
23rd 8pm – 9:15pm loud noise 

Zumba 8:30 – 9:30 
Carpet Bowls AGM 

 

26th Funeral Wake  
27th 30th Birthday Party 

Police called 
 

28th Vintage Fair 
Children’s Party 

 

   
   
   
July   
4th Puddleducks Sports Day  
5th Dance Presentation  
6th Primary School Production  
7th Primary School Production  
11th Engagement Party 

40th Birthday Party – White 
Room 

 

12th Children’s Party x 2  
19th Over Colts Presentation  

Children’s Party 
 

25th Birthday Party  
31st Baby Shower  
   
August   
1st Birthday Party – White Room 

21st Birthday Party 
 

8th 70th Birthday Party  
15th British Legion Flower Show  
16th BBQ Party  
22nd Anniversary Party – White 

Room 
 

31st 90th Birthday Party – White 
Room 

 

   
September   
5th 50th Birthday Party  
11th Over Players Fundraiser  
12th 60th Wedding Anniversary  
19th Wedding Reception  

Page 53



26th Dance workshop  
   
October   
3rd British Legion  - Standards 

Bearers Competion 
40th Wedding Anniversary 

 

10th British Legion – 1940’s 
Afternoon Tea 

 

17th Fishing Club Quiz  
18th MG Owners Club  
24th Cambs Young Farmers  
31st  Childrens Halloween Disco 

( 3pm- 5pm) 
   
   
November   
1st Vintage Fair  
7th  Firework Display 

Childrens Disco ( 5.30pm – 
7pm) 

8th Carpet Bowls Competition  
14th Wedding Reception  
18th Young Farmers AGM & Quiz  
21st New Road Craft Fair 

Over Day Centre – 80’s Night 
 

27th Cabaret Evening 
 

 

28th Cabaret Evening  
29th Puddleducks Christmas Fair  
   
   
December   
5th -12th Over Players Panto  
16th  OAP Christmas Lunch 

(School Choir 2-3pm) 
18th  Christmas Party Night 
31st  New Years Eve Party 
   

 
White Room refers to the Conservatory 

Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Appendix J 
 
Mr Christian, 33 The Doles, Over 
Chronology of events 
 
• 21/7/14 Mr Christian call to SCDC to report noise from loud music and people 

leaving community centre over last 2 Saturdays. Contact centre sent noise log 
sheet.  
 

• 28/7/14 Mr Christian call to SCDC to report noise again Sat 26/7/14. Juli 
Stallabrass (JS) sent letter to Mr Christian (appendix 1) and to licensee of 
community centre (appendix 2).  

 
 

• 20/8/14 Investigation closed as detailed in letter to Mr C as no log sheets 
returned. 
 

• 27/10/14 Mr Christian call to SCDC to report loud music from community centre 
between 8pm-midnight Sat 25/10/14.  

 
 

• 28/10/14 Russell Watkins (RW) call to Mr Christian- discussed installing noise kit 
when available and in meantime will send log sheet to complete and make 
contact with community centre.  
 

• 29/10/14 Letter received from Mr Christian, with completed log sheet detailing 
one date (appendix 3) 

 
 

• 11/11/14 Noise kit installed in Mr Christian’s home.  
 

• 24/11/14 RW call to Mr Christian- Reporter stated noise from event over weekend 
and recorded. Agreed to leave kit installed another week. 

 
 

• 2/12/14 RW collected noise kit. 
 

• 3/12/14 RW analysed recordings- over 50 recordings made and noise intrusive 
into Mr Christian’s home.  

 
 

• 3/12/14 RW sent email to community centre with a copy of licence conditions 
(appendix 4). 
 

• 3/12/14 RW call to Mr Christian- Updated reporter as to contact with community 
centre via email and will keep informed. Requested to note any noise times etc at 
weekend and advise me w/c 8th Dec if occur. 

 
 

• 4/12/14 Call from Sean Watkiss Community centre manager to RW- Discussed 
complaint and recordings. Event Sat 6th Dec and Panto Tues 9th - Thurs 11th 
Dec. Adv that reporter to monitor and let me know of any problems in meantime 
before meeting which has been arranged at Community Centre with JS on Friday 
12th december at 09:30. 

Page 159



 
• 17/12/14 Meeting at community centre (postponed from 12/12/14) RW & JS met 

with Sean Watkiss and Tracy Kimber on site- Played recordings and adv of 
concerns re volume. Assessed building and noted sound limiter in main hall. 
Event this coming fri 19th Dec and then only NYE event in bar then mid-jan until 
next event. Adv that would monitor if available on fri but otherwise contact w/c 5th 
Jan and arrange for visit prior to event when DJ can play music and also 
representative present to set sound limiter which I believe is required based on 
recordings. JS adv of licensing implications. 

 
 

• Visit to Mr Christian by RW, JS and housing officer Louise Moulding- Adv of 
outcomes of visit to Community Centre (see last action) and will be in contact 
when have update re progress and with view to altering noise limiter levels. Adv 
not to contact Community Centre to vent frustrations when events taking place 
and that only Fri 19th & NYE (latter bar only) before January. 
 

• 5/1/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Still irate despite assurances at last visit that 
would progress as necessary. Stated noise at events late Dec but stated unable 
to visit Fri 21st and agreed that would progress as previously agreed. 

 
 

• 5/1/15 RW sent email to Sean Watkiss (appendix 5).  
 

• 5/1/15 Email reply from Sean Watkiss (appendix 6) 
 

 
• 6/1/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Message adv reporter of potential for Fri 16th to 

monitor/re-set noise limiter 
 

• 8/1/15 RW email to Sean Watkiss (appendix 7) 
 

 
• 13/1/15 RW email to Sean Watkiss (appendix 8) 

 
• 13/1/15 RW call to Sean Watkiss- Discussed with Sean - Singer & backing this 

coming Fri so will attend 18:30 to monitor set vol but Sean to contact 
DJ/electician tomorrow and come back to me with regard to purpose visit to set 
noise limiter. 

 
 

• 13/1/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Message updating Mr Christian 
 

• 14/1/15 Call from Sean Watkiss to RW- Aside from this fri, arranged to meet 
electrician Weds 21st at 20:00 to adjust and set levels 

 
 

• 15/1/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Message adv reporter of two visits proposed in 
next week. 
 

• 16/1/15 Visit to community centre & Mr Christian by RW & JS- Singer and DJ in 
attendance for 21st birthday party. JS stayed at premises and I visited Mr 
Christian who at time of attending porperty was extremely vocal and abusive 
about the music which he was already aware from my last contact that I was 

Page 160



visiting to resolve anyway. Stated that I need to go over and sort the music out 
with plenty of finger pointing in the process and that if not he'd see me in Court. I 
explained that I could just walk away with that sort of attitude and that he should 
be aware that I was attending to assist. Monitored in property, with TV off and in 
silence with doors/windows closed music was audible and needed reducing in 
volume. Working with Juli this was achieved. Agreed with Sean/Reporter to visit 
on evening of Weds 21st from 20:00ish to set noise limiter itself. Reporter handed 
me paperwork he wanted answers to re investigation of complaint. (appendix 9) 
This apparently by H&ES and Housing. Agreed on levels set for evening and 
confirmed with DJ. 

 
• 19/1/15 RW sent letter to Mr Christian (appendix 10) 

 
• 20/1/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Message adv reporter of FOI info passed to 

relevant person and response being co-ordinated. Confirmed visit tomorrow night 
from 20:30 to set noise limiter & would be present at property nearer 20:45. 

 
• 21/1/15 Visit to community centre and Mr Christian to set noise limiter- Visited 

with Juli from 20:30 at Community Centre to set noise limiter with DJ/Electrician 
present.JS stayed at site and RW visited reporter to monitor noise and contact to 
ensure that sensitivity increased on limiter to ensure cut off of music at more 
reasonable volume. Weather at time overcast, slight drizzle, 1degC, still. Three 
alterations of limiter, second at 21:07 when music still audible in habitable rooms 
(lounge/rear bedroom) with TV off. Noted more so in kitchen/hallway at front of 
property and audible in rear garden 21:10. Song identifiable on a couple of 
occasions and request for JS to ask for limiter to be altered again. After 3rd 
occasion music still audible in rear garden but not intrusive and only just audible 
in lounge (TV off) but having to listen for it, Mr Christian stated he "couldn't hear 
it" in the lounge or the rear bedroom. With TV on not audible at all, even with rear 
door open. Still audible at front of property/kitchen but not excessive (window just 
open in kitchen but not habitable room).Adv Sean & colleague at Community 
Centre that satisfied with vol at reporters property. Noise limiter "Formula Sound, 
Sentry Env Noise Control System". Music at max permitted was occasionally into 
1st red which was after amber and six green (see photo) levels and after first red 
comes two and then three more together at point of cutting out. Adv Sean to be 
mindful of bass levels for visiting DJ's and management to ensure hall & entrance 
doors not propped open at any time to increase noise breakout although 
acknowledged entry/egress will make this possible for very short durations. 
Overall 6dB reduction from 94dB to 88dB on the amber setting. System has 
internal mic, altered by screwdriver after removing panel with two screws and 
needing large step ladder so satisfied that this is secure enough for purpose to 
avoid tampering. Also has external mic adj screw if installed but not at this 
premises (see bottom left mounted on blue in photo).Revisited reporter with Juli 
who discussed licensing queries and adv that FOI documents from H&ES were 
with our responsible person already who liaises with central person at SCDC who 
formulates response before all info delivered by hand for signing. (photos 
attached as appendix 11) 

 
• 2/2/15 Email from Mr Christian (appendix 12) 

 
• 2/2/15 RW call to Mr Christian- Discussed at length with reporter - Annoyed about 

noise on Weds evening (NYE) and yesterday Sunday. Adv that not necessarily 
licensable events and can take action under s82 EPA 1990 if so wished. 

 

Page 161



• 7/2/15 Email from duty manager at community centre (appendix 13) 
 

• 9/2/15 email from Mr Christian (appendix 14) 
 

• 10/2/15 FOI documents hand delivered to Mr Christian by Emma Knight (EK) 
(appendix 15)  

 
• 11/2/15 email from Mr Christian (appendix 16)  

 
• 11/2/15 RW email to Mr Christian (appendix 17) 

 
• 12/2/15 Case review meeting RW, EK and Lewis Moody (LM) (homelink officer)- 

Matter discussed, agreed to install noise kit again based on last weekends 
compliant (Sat) and Lewis confirmed no banding increase and all concurred that 
no ASB issues that may raise a banding. 

 
• 12/2/15 RW email to Mr Christian to arrange installation of noise kit in his 

property (appendix 18)  
 

• 12/2/15 RW email to community centre advising of further complaints and further 
monitoring to be undertaken (appendix 19) 

 
• 17/2/15 Visit to Mr Christian’s home to install noise kit by RW and LM- Visited 

with Lewis Hall - Homelink: Installed noise monitoring equipment in rear bedroom 
whilst Lewis discussed housing advice/bandings. This then continued in my 
presence in lounge when issue of noise then addressed to which reporter 
became very animated and angry. Explained that I've taken all reasonable steps 
since start of compliant to investigate and ensure reasonable levels maintained. 
Provided copy of my email dated 9th february 2015 (attached to this job) and 
stated that because other rooms/other noise types being alleged, that this was 
now reason for further investigation and need for installation of noise monitoring 
equipment again. Stated would confirm visit in brief email including that no out of 
hrs officer available. 

 
• 17/2/15 RW email to Mr Christian (appendix 20) 

 
• 17/2/15 RW email to Sean Watkiss (appendix 21)  

 
• 19/2/15 EK stage one response letter to Mr Christian (appendix 22)  

 
• 20/2/15 Email from Sean Watkiss (appendix 23) 

 
• 21/2/15 Email from Mr Christian (appendix 24) 

 
• 22/2/15 RW email to Mr Christian (appendix 25) 

 
• 23/2/15 Visit by RW to Mr Christian’s home to replace noise kit following power 

cuts- Visited with SKF - Changed noise monitoring equipment. Power cut approx 
20:00 on evening of Sat 21st Feb apparently, but only for approx 4mins and then 
another same evening for approx 2mins. Adv that new back up batterties at time 
of installation and surprised they would fail that quick. No display on SLM at time 
but blue LED showing. Will analyse kit. 

 
• 23/2/15 RW email to Mr Christian re: noise kit failure (appendix 26)  

Page 162



 
• 24/2/15 email from Mr Christian and reply by RW re: sound limiting device at 

community centre (appendix 27) 
 

• 26/2/15 JS email to Mr Christian re: sound limiting device at community centre 
(appendix 28) 

 
• 4/3/15 File note from Claire Gilbey (neighbourhood services officer) following 

concerns about Mr Christian’s behaviour towards community centre staff 
(appendix 29)  

 
• 4/3/15 Letter from James Paice MP (appendix 30) 

 
• 9/3/15 EK email to Mr Christian to extend time for noise kit (appendix 31)  

 
• 11/3/15 email from Mr Christian (appendix 32) 

 
• 18/3/15 JS visit to Mr Christian’s home to collect noise kit 

 
• 23/3/15 Myles Bebbington (MB) stage 2 response to Mr Christian (appendix 33) 

 
• 25/3/15 EK reply to James Paice MP (appendix 34) 

 
• 26/3/15 Email from Mr Christian with reply by EK (appendix 35)  

 
• 30/3/15 Email from Mr Christian with reply by MB (appendix 36) 

 
• 5/4/15 email from Mr Christian (appendix 37) 

 
• 7/4/15 Noise recordings made Feb 2015 analysed- no intrusive music or people 

noise audible (notes attached as appendix 38) 
 

• 13/4/15 EK email to Mr Christian and his reply  re: noise recordings and 
insufficient evidence to take formal action (appendix 39)  

 
• 15/4/15 EK email to Mr Christian and reply re: meeting to discuss investigation 

(appendix 40) 
 

• 17/4/15 Meeting held at SCDC offices to discuss outcome of investigation. 
Present: Myles Bebbington (Head of EH & Licensing), Susan Walford 
(Operational Manager, EH & L), Virginia Lloyd (Lawyer), Lewis Moody (homelink 
officer), Claire Gilbey (Neighbourhood services officer) &  Mr Christian.  

 
• 23/4/15 MB letter (appendix 41)  to Mr Christian confirming meeting and 

enclosing CD of noise recordings (appendix 42)  and meeting notes.  
 

• 13/5/15-04/06/15 email correspondence between EK, MB & chief executives 
office with Mr Christian (appendix 42a) 

 
• 12/6/15 Monitoring visits undertaken by Tara King (TK) (licensing support officer) 

1920-1936 hrs, 2210-2220hrs & 2332-2340hrs. Music levels were not excessive 
or intrusive.  

 

Page 163



• 18/6/15 Monitoring visits undertaken by MB 1815-1900hrs & 2215-2140hrs. No 
music audible.  

 
• 20/6/15 Monitoring visits undertaken by TK 2040-2126hrs. Music and singer 

audible but not excessive or intrusive.  
 

• 24/6/15 EK email to Mr Christian- with reply (appendix 42b)  

Page 164


	Agenda
	1 INTRODUCTIONS / PROCEDURE
	3 OVER: Review of premises licence at the Community Centre
	Over - app A - covering letter
	Over Comm Centre- app B
	Over Comm Centre - app C
	Over Comm Centre- app D
	Over Comm Centre - app E
	Over Comm Centre - app F
	Over Comm Centre - app G
	Over Comm Centre - app I
	Over Comm Centre - app H - REDACTED (2) No Over PC
	Over Comm Centre - app H Christian evidence REDACTED
	Over Comm Centre - app J


